
Little of this will be news to readers of LNER, for
already in earlier issues there have been references to
the line, for instance in the article dealing with the North
Country Continental, as well as the recent review of
Kenneth Oldham's volume of wartime photographs, this
perhaps offering the best coverage of the Woodhead line
that has so far appeared in print. Another excellent
source from the pictorial point of view are the three
Foxline volumes compiled by E.M. Johnson. These
books make it very clear that in the vintage years the line
was by no means neglected by the photographers, and
the collection of views in the present writer's possession
offers further evidence of this. Perhaps the most
distinguished cameraman known to have visited the line
during that period was H. Gordon Tidey, who spent a
holiday somewhere in the vicinity and obtained some
characteristic views, especially on the more scenic
section between Crowden and Dunford Bridge.
Unfortunately he was not a photographer who kept
meticulous records of his pictures, but a study of same
strongly suggests that he was in this part of the LNER
during 1927. Some of his photographs appear in Volume
Two of the Johnson books just mentioned.

Before turning to a discussion of the traffic, a few
words about the line itself and some of its more
conspicuous features are in order, chiefly for the benefit
of readers unfamiliar with the area. Like other trans-
Pennine routes the Woodhead line represented an
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The closure some years ago of the Woodhead route,
by then reduced more or less to a mineral line,

predictably produced a quantity of books and articles
celebrating the line's passing, some of them dealing with
the later years and even in some cases bringing the
electrics into the limelight. Remarkable machines these
undoubtedly were, but anyone able to remember the line
in its earlier years can hardly have seen them as anything
other a symptom of Woodhead's decline, for with the
start of electrification there was already a falling-off in
traffics, and later came the disappearance of the through
services to Marylebone which had once been the pride
and joy of the GCR, and was still very much the
centrepiece of the route throughout the LNER era. By
the time final closure came, that and so much else was
alreadyadim memory from the past.

So with some years having intervened, we can now
revisit the line with a view to bringing back to mind some
of its more striking features in those days when the traffic
was still more less in full flow, and when a surprising
variety of locomotive types was to be seen at work. From
the linesider's point of view the LNER period was
undoubtedly the most rewarding, especially from about
1930 onwards when with the growing presence of
LNER-built types the line achieved a a remarkable level of
interest, to the extent that it could probably be
considered second only to the East Coast line from the
locomotive point of view.

Woodhead station from the tunnel mouth, with an unidentified 'Four-cylinder' about to enter at the head of an express. The
distinctive station buildings are at left, and the large water-tank on the Up platform can just be seen at the right. The very low
platforms are noteworthy, this being a feature of the MSL-built stations on the line, and the wooden steps visible on the Down

platform are probably for the assistance of passengers.

TRAFFIC OVER WOODHEAD



quite attractive appearance, not least that at Woodhead
itself, better seen in photographs than described. Sadly it
was demolished about 1950 during the course of work
on the electrification - an act of official vandalism which
would probably never have taken place at a more
historically sensitive time. But even long before this there
was already evidence of a certain decline, notably at
Dunford Bridge where the substantial yard east of the
station fell increasingly into disuse; its main purpose had
been to facilitate sorting of private owner wagons for
return to the collieries of Yorkshire and elsewhere, but
with the pooling of these vehicles which took place about

direction of Yorkshire; hence it was frequently the case
that this half of the tunnel was closed to traffic, usually on
Sundays, while the maintenance gangs went to work on
the endless task of repairing the worst of the ravages.

Severe weather conditions also played their part in
making life difficult, for of course the tunnel was located in
what was undoubtedly one of the most inhospitable parts
of the entire LNER system, and the extremes of winter
weather inevitably took its toll in terms of disruption to
traffic. During the worst of the weather it was not
unknown for trains to be snowed in, while frost and icy
winds made the route notorious among the goods

The same buildings are seen from a passing train on a rather misty 15 September 1945, a Saturday. The steelwork at left, seen also in
the previous view, spans the River Etherow. In the distance can be seen one of the stanchions for the electrification, erected

about 1938 and waiting for the resumption of work. Photograph by H.C. Casserley.

guards, huddled in their vans with only the tiniest of
stoves to stave off the freezing cold. Yet on a fine
summer's day the Longdendale valley was to many as
beautiful a spot as could be found, and for the passenger
who took an interest in his surroundings it was fascinating
to observe the distinct change in the landscape as the
suburbs of Manchester were left behind, giving way to an
increasingly rugged vista as the train climbed beyond
Hadfield, so that by the time Woodhead was reached the
line was enclosed in a rocky wilderness which according
to personal taste might be seen as beautiful or somewhat
sinister and intimidating. A similar landscape awaited at
the Dunford end, but this soon gave way to a softer
panorama as the train approached Bullhouse.

The stations in this gritstone wilderness, hardly
surprisingly, were modest affairs, though some were of

impressive achievement in the realm of civil engineering,
with the Woodhead tunnel being among the longest in
the country as well as one of the earliest, and the line was
notable also for its viaducts, the most impressive being
those spanning Dinting Vale and the River Etherow,
always known to local people as Dinting Arches and
Broadbottom Arches. Besides all this, construction of
the line involved many cuttings and embankments, and
given the primitive tools which were all that was available
to nineteenth-century contractors the completed route
was a remarkable testimony to Victorian achievement.
By the time the LNER took control the twin bores of
Woodhead tunnel were old, and in need of constant
maintenance, especially that on the Up side which
because of the gradient inside received an unremitting
pounding from the exhausts of engines heading in the



of course considerable, but no amount of civil
engineering could overcome the principal disadvantage,
namely the formidable gradients for which the line was
notorious. Only the replacement of steam power by
more modern forms of traction could provide the
solution, and until that took place all concerned had to
struggle along as best they might an oft-repeated story
on our railways. The chief burden of course fell on the
footplatemen, with the firemen working full out as the
faster trains battled to keep time on the punishing climb.
The hardest task, without doubt, was reserved for those
crews who had worked through from Marylebone;
having already completed a fairly exhausting shift by the
time they reached Sheffield, they now had to face the last
punishing assault, with the fire no longer in the best of
condition and the fireman no doubt beginning to feel the
effects of his labours; and it was frequently the case that
an extra coach would be added at Sheffield Victoria,
especially at weekends. In contrast, the worst part of the
journey for men in charge of mineral trains was the
descent towards Manchester, where great care had to be
exercised to guard against the ever-present danger of a
runaway, with as many as 60 wagons behind the tender,
each one restrained only by a simple handbrake. A well-
known feature of the line was the sand-drag at
Valehouse, on the approach to Hadfield, into which the
signalman could turn a train on receipt of the 'out of
control1 signal on the locomotive whistle. The
arrangement appears to have been very rarely
resorted to, probably because the enginemen were
only too well aware of the what might happen if their
train got away.

Turning now to the trains themselves, it is convenient
to begin with the mineral traffic, because although not to
be compared with the fast trains from the point of view of
spectacle its working displays some interesting features
of the line and how it was worked. And of course in the
last resort it was the continuous flow of coal trains that
made the line a paying proposition, for it is doubtful if
much revenue ever accrued from the passenger services.
By 1923 the mineral service had become very much a
showpiece for the Robinson 2-8-0s, now known as Class
O4 under the new management, and which have some
claim to be the designer's best product. Easy to work on,
reliable, simple to maintain, they came as near as could be
asked to the ideal mineral engine. No doubt the forward-
looking members of the LNER design team looked
somewhat askance at their obviously old-fashioned
features, notably of course the inside valve-gear which
betrayed the type's early origins when compared with a
Gresley O2. This is probably the reason why they never
established themselves on the East Coast line to the same
extent that they did elsewhere, but the truth is that they
were probably every bit as good as their LNER
counterparts. On the Woodhead they were
unchallenged, and were still in regular use on the mineral
trains when the electrics eventually took over, and would
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1935 the yard was used less and less, and its emptiness
contributed to the general impression of a remote and
half-forgotten wilderness. The colliery at Bullhouse
closed at about the same time, and the once-busy
stoneyard adjacent to Dunford Bridge station itself also
fell on hard times as the demand for finished stone
declined.

At the time the line passed into LNER hands there
were still two short tunnels at Hattersley, between
Godley and Broadbottom. Completed even earlier than
the first Woodhead tunnel, these were in poor condition
by 1923 and it was not long before the new owners took
the decision to open them out. So came the first of the
major physical changes on the line, with work
commencing in 1927. Deep excavations were necessary
to remove earth from above, and when the tunnels
themselves were eventually exposed the job was
completed by dynamite. The G/ossop Chronicle of 18 July
1930 gives a brief account of the demolition on 13 July of
the shorter of the two tunnels, under the heading
'Hattersley Tunnel No More. Last Sunday's Big Bang.1 The
work had been carried out without interruption to
traffic, and the tunnels were now replaced by a wide
cutting which can still be seen at the present time. A
modern overbridge was also constructed to carry the
A560 main road across the cutting, featuring a central
steel section which likewise remains in place at the time
of writing.

The construction of Mottram Yard, a few miles
further up the line beyond Broadbottom station, was
begun at about this time and reached completion in
October 1935. As well as considerable changes to the
landscape resulting from construction of the very wide
cutting which enclosed the reception and main yards, the
work also entailed realigning of the main line from the Up
end of Broadbottom viaduct, and reconstruction of the
Glossop Road overbridge, which now assumed the form
of a substantial viaduct. From this a splendid view of the
line could be obtained as it stretched as straight as a ruler
down to the Etherow viaduct nearly a mile away, and it
was a popular place for youthful spotters, where during
quiet spells on the line marshalling in the adjacent yard
could be observed from this excellent vantage-point. The
writer recalls many afternoons spent at this location,
which was readily accessible by bus (North-Western
Road Car Co, fare from Glossop one penny).

Electrification was the next major development, with
the first stanchions being erected in 1938, looking spick
and span in their coating of red-lead paint. But war was
soon to follow, and with it came the suspension of all
work on the new project; this change of course also
entailed repainting of the stanchions, as in their original
red they were considered too easily visible from the air.
And of course the LNER had ceased to exist by the time
work was resumed.

Such very briefly were the principal changes affecting
the line during the LNER period. The improvement was



Looking in the other direction, this view gives a good impression of the forbidding entrance to the tunnel as an Up train approaches,
again behind O4 6350 running unusually tender-first. The curious vehicle next to the engine is believed to have been used for tunnel

maintenance.

presence of a banking-engine was essential on the climb
to Dunford Bridge; in practice it meant that a continuous
procession of coal trains could be seen crawling up the
slow road towards the latter, frequently stopping while
the leading train waited for the road through Woodhead
tunnel. Banking-engines were released at the top of the
grade, to proceed light engine back to shed, and with the
train now starting the descent speed was no greater than
before because of the danger already described. Here
also it was a case of waiting for the road as one
approached the two-track section towards Hadfield, and
sometimes trains might stand in the same spot for hours if
the yards in the Manchester area were full. S.C. Townroe
offers an interesting little anecdote in connection with his
service at Gorton in 1931, when at the end of a long wait
in the loop the signal finally came off and he reached
thankfully for the regulator, only to have his arm instantly
knocked aside by the driver, who angrily rebuked him to
the effect that steam was unnecessary as with the brakes
off the train would move forward under its own weight.
At exceptionally busy times the congestion was such that
shunting movements had to be made to release the
engines, leaving the trains standing with wagon brakes
firmly pinned down. Left overnight like this, in a location
where there was little light and with no railway staff on
hand, the trains became a target for theft, coal of course
being a much-valued commodity in the days when homes
were heated by the traditional open fire. The district
became notorious for this activity, despite frequent
prosecutions.

no doubt have continued even longer in that role had the
change of power never taken place.

The service was dominated by engines and men from
Gorton and Mexborough sheds, working continuously
between the various sidings in the Manchester area and
Wath yard, where so many of the loaded trains were
made up in readiness for their journey over the hill. A
great deal of lodging work was performed at both ends,
and rarely did a day pass at Gorton without the
enginemen's barracks on Cornwall Street echoing to the
sound of Yorkshire accents as crews from Mexborough
came and went. Not all of the coal came from Yorkshire
of course, and with smaller loads being brought over
from the Nottinghamshire and Derbyshire collieries,
Langwith and Annesley engines were also regularly seen,
the former still making much use of the Class Q4 0-8-0s
which had preceded the O4s on these unspectacular
duties. In earlier times these typical Edwardian mineral
engines were known as 'Tinies' on account of their size,
but the name was inherited by the even larger 2-8-0s as
they in turn took over so much of the traffic, and so the
original Tinies became known as 'Proper Tinies' among
the men. As things settled down under the LNER a
number of them were to be found at Barnsley shed,
which also had a share of the traffic, the crews lodging at
Gorton as did their colleagues from Mexborough.

From the standpoint of speed and efficiency no route
could have been more unsuitable for mineral traffic than
Woodhead. Because of the gradients the trains rarely
travelled at much more than a walking-pace, and the



quoted. On Sunday 3 June 1923 there were a total of
seventeen O4 engines noted at the shed.Of the thirteen
Q4s present Nos. 963, 5151 and 5146 were from
Mexborough, 91 and 56 from Barnsley, I 139 from
Langwith, 71 from Staveley, and 143 and 160 from
Keadby, the last-named often working coke trains into
the Manchester area.

On Saturday 30 May 1925 27 Class O4 engines were
seen, and included in the total were four from
Mexborough, two from Annesley and one each from
Sheffield, Staveley, Colwick and Immingham. On the
morning of Monday 18 July 1927 seven Mexborough O4s
were on view, with three from Annesley, two from
Doncaster and one each from Staveley and Langwith,
while Q4s 5356 (Mexborough) and 6137 (Langwith)
were also present. All the sheds mentioned were
regularly involved in the mineral services inasmuch as
they provided the engines but not necessarily any crews;
for instance Doncaster-based engines often turned up on
Mexborough jobs, and Colwick engines came in with
Annesley men on the footplate.

Return workings were mainly with empties, the
trains being assembled mostly at Ardwick and Dewsnap
yards, with those coming back from the Cheshire Lines
being made up at Godley. Because the empty trains were
often longer than the incoming loaded ones, there was
less work for the returning engines, and these would be
sent back light over Woodhead, often coupled together.
If there were any wagons of goods awaiting despatch in
the Up direction, these would be attached to empty
trains as convenient.

As for other engine types appearing on the mineral
services, the faithful 'Pom-poms' would sometimes
appear with lighter loads, and various kinds of engine
would turn up on banking duty, depending on what
happened to be available on any particular day. Probably
the most popular and regularly-used of these necessary
assisting engines were the 2-6-4 'Crabs', which once they
had taken up residence at Mexborough from 1929
onwards found a suitable niche for themselves pushing
up the coal trains, having been found unsatisfactory on
other kinds of traffic on account of a tendency to skid.
They were in many respects ideal for the purpose, and
their comfortable cabs were no doubt greatly
appreciated by the Mexborough crews in bad weather,
especially on the descent from Dunford Bridge after
leaving the train. Among the first of the LNER-designed
types to appear on the Woodhead line were the J39s,
which in many respects were seen as a replacement for
the 'Pom-poms' once they had got into their stride from
about 1927 onwards, and so it was that the trusty JI I s
gradually began to disappear from the main line, being
relegated to such duties as shunting pilots, which in the
opinion of many GC enginemen was a waste of a good
engine. However the J39s were quick to prove
themselves on the mineral services as well as a range of
goods workings, and in time achieved a considerable
reputation among the men, which was no mean feat in
view of the general antipathy towards Gresley products
which prevailed at that time.

As a rough indicator of the engine types in use in early
LNER days, a few observations at Gorton Loco can be

O4 6602 draws another train of empties out of the loop and heads for the tunnel, the crew no doubt bracing themselves for what lies
ahead. Taken from the end of the Down platform, this view shows (left) the goods line leading to the small yard alongside the station
and (right) the characteristically low platform. The crossover in the foreground was much used during the frequent periods of single

-line running.



schedules even over the punishing gradients of
Woodhead. By 1923 a pattern had developed whereby
Gorton used six-coupled engines and Neasden the
outstandingly popular Directors. Loads had become
considerably heavier during World War One, and the
Atlantics which had once been the prime favourites at
Gorton were no longer seen, or not at least on the top
flight turns. So it was that the bigger and more modern
engines came into their own, initially the Sam Fays and
then the Lord Faringdons, some of the latter still being
quite new at the start of 1923. Both types handled the
heavy postwar loads satisfactorily and were much liked
by the Manchester crews, no doubt in part because the
additional driving axle gave a surer grip when climbing,
especially of course over Woodhead, which was all part
of a day's work for the men. In considering this we need
to bear in mind that much of what has been written in
criticism about these types of 4-6-0 is largely erroneous,
based on dubious research both from an engineering and
traffic point of view. Had any of these criticisms been true
the Sam Fays especially would never have appeared on
the through runs to London and back, for the simple
reason that in those days, under the benevolent
despotism of WG.R Maclure, the senior drivers were
given the opportunity to choose their own engines so
long as they could guarantee that the trains would be
worked to time. In the experienced hands of the best of
the Gorton crews the Sam Fays were probably the equal
of a Director, but events were to show that they were
doing the work on a heavier coal consumption. They
were still appearing on the London expresses as late as

Observations by the late Harold Bowtell on 6 August
1931, a Thursday, Included 23 O4s of which no fewer
than six were Doncaster-based, a reminder of their
frequent appearances on the coal trains alongside the
Mexborough machines. Of the latter, Nos. 5350, 5388
and 6208 were also noted.

Leaving now the murky and unglamorous world of
the mineral trains, we turn to the opposite end of the
spectrum to give some attention to the fast passenger
services, with pride of place of course going to the
Manchester-Marylebone expresses, which had always
occupied the premier position from their introduction at
the very start of GCR ownership. It is a topic on which
alone many articles could be written, and a great deal has
already been published in books and articles over the
years, so what appears here is intended only as an
overview of the earlier years. Of the London trains, it was
the through workings that were most likely to take the
eye, and the best-known of these was surely the 3.20pm
from Marylebone, or 'Sam Fay Down', descendant of the
pre-Grouping 'Sheffield Special.' In a similar exalted
category were the 2.15pm Up, the 8.45am ex
Marylebone and the 3.50pm from Manchester London
Road, all of these being worked through, with the first
two being shared between Gorton and Neasden crews,
the others worked solely by Gorton. There were also
two similar Sunday workings.

All the trains were extremely fast, and were in the
hands of the best crews at the sheds concerned. An
enviable record of punctuality was maintained, with the
drivers priding themselves on meeting the tight
8

The new breed. J39 2695 is pictured at Gorton, probably when new in August 1928; it was to be allocated there until 1933.



have been a noticeable contrast between this and the
locomotives in their highly-polished LNER passenger
green. However from 1929 rakes of new Gresley stock
began to appear, at least on the London trains,
contributing greatly to the handsome appearance of
these crack expresses.

Included in the No.2 Link roster were two heavier
night-time diagrams involving mail and newspaper trains,
and on these the Sam Fays were still well able to show
that they were capable of taking substantial loads over
Woodhead. The Gorton engines came off at Sheffield,
returning home in the early morning, and the late S.C.
Townroe has an interesting account of this work in his
article Memories of the Great Central (Trains Illustrated
1961) where he describes a typical journey in the
company of Driver Jim Fielding and Fireman Jack
Hepplestone.

The Liverpool-Hull expresses, which likewise were
seen on the Woodhead line at various times during the
day, ran under different arrangements altogether, with
Sheffield Neepsend shed being in charge of most of
them, and Liverpool also taking a share. Like the
Marylebone trains they ran on fast schedules, with the
Sheffield men in particular being noted for some
vigorous running. At the time the LNER assumed control
the work was being done by 4-6-0s of the 'Immingham'
Class, now B4, ably supported by the large 4-4-0s known
as 'Bogie Pom-poms' (Class D9), the latter engines being
particularly numerous at Neepsend Loco at this period.
On Wednesday 17 January 1923 D9 1031 arrived at
Liverpool Central with the midday Hull express, and on
Tuesday and Wednesday 10 and I I April No. 1027 was
noted on the same turn. The duty began when the
express was taken over from N E Area locomotives at
Sheffield Victoria, and so these are interesting early
appearances of Class D9 engines on the Woodhead line.
They went back to Sheffield later in the day, and the last
of these return trips was routed via Manchester Central,
whence the Neepsend engine departed with the

10.30pm 'Second Mail' as it was always known, joining
the Woodhead line at Fairfield. A Sheffield B4, No. I 101,
was noted at Liverpool Central on Tuesday 22 May,
though details of the train are lacking. The 4-6-0s did not
last very long on this work once the LNER had taken
charge, being moved away from the GC Section within a
few months.

Liverpool engines were seen over Woodhead during
the afternoon, working out of Liverpool Central with the
1.50 Hull express and coming back on the 4.45 from
Sheffield Victoria. Brunswick Loco also had an allocation
of D9s at this time, among them 5110 King George Y
which is known to have been working the Hull duty at
about the start of the LNER period.

With all engines still largely in as-built condition, the
Liverpool-Hull trains had a very GC look about them at
this early stage, but a big change was already in the offing.
During June 1923 the first GN Atlantics arrived at
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the close of 1924, for in the Railway Magazine of February
1925 we find the following: 'Engines of this class (Sam
Fays) have been noted recently working the 3.20pm
express from Marylebone. These include Nos.5423-25,
generally on Tuesdays, Thursdays and Saturdays when
Gorton locomotives work this train.' By this date the
loadings had dropped considerably compared with those
which were the norm in the period immediately
following the war, so it is quite plain that the drivers were
perfectly happy to continue working on them. And this in
spite of the fact that in the meantime a new series of
Directors had been put into service (Class Dl I), a
number of which were stationed at Gorton.

Experience at Neasden was quite different. Here the
crews quickly took to the Directors, and when loads
grew heavier during the war the engines showed
themselves well able to handle even the most onerous of
daily tasks, no doubt much to everyone's surprise, not
least we may imagine their counterparts at Gorton. So by
1923 the Sam Fay Down diagram was being worked by
different engine types in opposite directions from day to
day, as the note quoted above clearly implies. Gorton was
not however without experience of the 4-4-0s, and these
appear to have been used on the secondary turns which
were the preserve of the No.2 Passenger link. No doubt
they soon made a name for themselves on such relatively
easy turns as the Cleethorpes expresses, generally
worked between Manchester and Sheffield, and were
eventually to take over the London jobs, but we have no
precise knowledge of when the change took place. Even
as late as June 1927 there is a reference in the Railway
Magazine of that month to the appearance of 5426 City of
Chester on the Marylebone trains, working alongside
Nos.6164 and 6166 of Class B3. The latter two had
recently come back to Gorton after a long spell at Kings
Cross where together with the rest of the Class they had
been working on the East Coast line, so with their long
absence from the GC Section it is likely that the Sam Fay
engines saw a good deal of service on the prestige trains
during this period. Having taken up their previous top-
link duties during 1927, the Lord Faringdons enjoyed only
a fairly short spell on the best work, and it was probably at
about this same time that the Directors began to take
over in earnest, while the long-serving Sam Fays were
switched to the No.2 Link. As mentioned earlier, it was at
this time that H. Gordon Tidey appeared on the scene,
and two of the best known of his photographs show 6164
Valour working fast passenger trains over Wood head, one
taken at Crowden and the other on the approach to
Dunford (see for instance LNER 4-6-0s at Work: Geoffrey
Hughes, p.51).

So from about 1927 the best trains settled into a
pattern whereby the Directors now worked from both
ends, while the Sam Fays took care of the Cleethorpes
jobs and other secondary duties. The latter trains were
often made up of what looks to have been a somewhat
random collection of coaching-stock, and there must



when her husband was based there as a guard, and made
regular use of this service when visiting members of her
family in Glossop, where the trains also called. The trip
along the branch meant of course that the engine
reversed direction, hence it was the invariable custom
for Neepsend to roster a tank engine for this duty. The
diagram remained largely unchanged throughout the
vintage years, featuring one of the shed's sizeable fleet of
Cl 3s. Surviving notes of the working are very sparse,
being limited to sightings of Sheffield-based CI3s at
Manchester London Road in the early LNER years.
No. 1059 was seen on Monday 2 April 1923, and I057on
Saturday 15 December, while the latter was there again
on Monday 4 August 1924, now numbered I057C. Prior
to this, C13 6055 was noted on Monday 21 April 1924.
C13 engines were rare at London Road in those years, all
the local passenger work being done by 2-4-2s, and
under normal conditions the appearance of the Sheffield
train would be the only time that the bigger engines were
on view. The only photograph of it known to exist was
taken at Woodhead station, and shows No.6066 standing
at the Up platform in typical 1930s condition with
flowerpot chimney; the train is seen from the adjacent
main road, and the photo is probably the work of
Barnsley photographer Eric Grundy, who took many
pictures on afternoon trips between Barnsley and
Glossop. Unfortunately its poor quality makes it
unsuitable for publication. The train itself was unusual for
this part of the GC Section in being composed of bogie
stock, this at a time when the Manchester locals
consisted exclusively of the old MSLR six-wheeled
coaches.

There was a fairly frequent service of local trains
operating between Sheffield and Penistone, some of
them worked by C13s, but there were also other rosters
involving D9s which formed part of longer diagrams in
the Sheffield area, these turns being in the nature of 'fill-
ins' before or after the main working. The arrival of such
trains meant that Penistone was a fairly busy station,
despite the relatively small size of the town it served, and
with the junction onto the LYR system across the
adjacent viaduct it ranked as the biggest on the
Woodhead line. Engines and trains could often be seen
standing prior to resuming work, and almost all
expresses made a call there, regardless of direction,
while in addition to the Sheffield locals other trains came
and went on the Barnsley line, some of these having
worked all the way from Lincolnshire with Immingham
engines in charge.

On the Manchester side the local trains terminated at
Hadfield, as they continue to do at the time of writing.
Here at the Up end of the station a road was provided on
which every night a set of empty coaches was stabled to
form the first Manchester train of the next morning,
worked by an FI 2-4-2 tank from Dinting which arrived
before 7am, and earlier still in the winter when the
carriages needed to be heated.

Neepsend Loco, these being replacements for the
departed B4s. It would be pleasing to be able to record
which of these strangers worked the first trip over
Woodhead, and when that significant event took place,
but sadly this information is lost to us. What we do know
however is that once these redoubtable 4-4-2s took over
the Liverpool jobs they were there to stay, and were still
working many of the Sheffield turns even during the
Second World War. It is interesting that among the first
transfers was No.4420; formerly a Doncaster engine, it
arrived at Sheffield on 23 June 1923, and was still there in
the summer of 1944. The remarkable thing of course is
that no engines could have been more unlike the
Robinson types than these Doncaster-designed Atlantics
with their spartan cabs and basic controls, and their habit
of lurching, kicking and corkscrewing at speed must have
been a rude awakening after the steadiness of Robinson
footplate, especially on the frequent curves of the
Woodhead permanent way, but nevertheless the
Sheffield men took to them instantly, and ran them with
verve and enthusiasm throughout the whole of the LNER
years. So these foreigners became very much part of the
Woodhead furniture, and for a time there were also two
of the Class working from Brunswick, an equally
remarkable event in its way. The Atlantics were the first
non-GC type to make regular appearances on the
Woodhead services. As examples of their work, No.4412
was observed at Liverpool Central, while No.3272 was
likewise on view on Monday 26 March 1928. The latter
had only a short stay on the GC Section, but No.4412
remained for many years following its arrival in 1925, and
this became another of the Class that was regularly seen
on the Woodhead line.

During this period 5436 Sir Berke/ey Sheffield had a
short spell at Liverpool concurrently with the two
Atlantics mentioned above, and is described in the Railway
Magazine of June 1925 as working the Hull diagram.
Following its departure however the 4-4-2s were left in
sole charge, so if as has been suggested the intention
behind this move was to arrange some kind of
comparative trial, then clearly it was the latter engines
that found favour, despite acknowledged qualities of the
Directors.

In some respects the most curious of the passenger
workings over Woodhead, and one that was entirely
typical of the locomotive practices of those vanished
years, was the daily all-stations turn between Sheffield
and Manchester. This made a morning departure from
Sheffield Victoria, and had the distinction of being the only
train to make calls at such remote outposts as Woodhead
and Crowden, which was also true of the returning train
later in the day. It functioned in effect as a 'parliamentary'
train, and for those few passengers who boarded at these
isolated locations it represented the only means of
contact with the rest of the world, as bus services over
Woodhead were non-existent in those days. An aunt of
the writer's lived at Dunford Bridge for a number of years
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The other end of the proceedings is depicted in this undated view at Dunford Bridge, with Mexborough's LI 5338 giving a last push as
this train gets over the summit just inside the Down tunnel.
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outside-cylinder 4-6-0s there were also the
Glenalmonds and B6s, while 'Pom-poms' and even O4s
appeared on some of the slower trains. But of course the
very latest and perhaps most eye-catching of the goods
fleet were the four-cylinder B7s, still building at the time
of Grouping, and already working betweeen
Manchester and London while still in shop grey. At the
head of loads usually consisting mainly of vans they had
very much the appearance of express passenger trains,

Goods trains brought another range of locomotive
types onto the Woodhead route, although of course
many of these ran during the hours of darkness. The fully-
fitted trains were the ones that most readily caught the
eye, especially the evening departure from Ardwick
depot to Marylebone, which like the fast passenger trains
were taken by Gorton and Neasden engines on alternate
days. J.G. Robinson had left the GCR particularly well-
equipped with goods locomotives, for as well as the early

A view from the Up platform showing 5501 Mons approaching the tunnel with an express. Woodhead signalbox is at the right, and
faintly in the distance can be seen an empties waiting for the road. Picture believed to have been taken by H. Gordon Tidey in 1927.



vigilant Harry Underwood passing Penistone at the head
of 65 fruit empties, this by coincidence being a day when
Phil Markham was on the footplate. Just over a month
earlier, the same observer had spent another few hours
at Penistone and saw J20 8293 going through with fruit
empties. As for photographs, the only one known to have
been taken is a small snap from the camera of Eric
Grundy, a photographer already mentioned in these
notes; now apparently lost, the picture showed an Up
train of vans at Crowden behind a GE 0-6-0, but
unfortunately too far away for the engine number to be
discernible as the photographer was standing at the far
end of the Woodhead reservoir dam. Some years ago the
Manchester Locomotive Society published an article
discussing the appearances of GE engines on the
Woodhead route, now no longer to hand; from memory
it contained little in the way of reference to the trains
described here, yet it is clear from Phil Markham's diary
that the classes mentioned above were working quite
regularly if not daily on the Lincolnshire fruit traffic during
the mid-twenties and probably later. The work of course
was of a high-profile nature because of the perishable
traffic, and with only a limited pool of suitable vans to
draw from it was essential to get the empty vehicles back
to the GE lines as promptly as possible.

Before continuing the story of the various workings it
is useful to give a summery of some of the material
appearing in the 'Locomotive Matters' section of the
contemporary Railway Magazine, which began
publication in February 1925. Conveniently divided
under the headings of the four companies, its special
interest is that it gives an indication of the changes in the
locomotive sphere which took place as a result of
Grouping, of which of course the appearances of GE
engine discussed is obviously one aspect, these trains
having presumably been worked by native GC types in
the years up to 1923.

Pursuing the theme of the Great Eastern, it is
mentioned in 'Locomotive Matters' that at some date
during 1924 B12 8507 was observed in the Manchester
area, although no details are given. The engine was
allocated to Cambridge at that time, and the most likely
explanation is that it was in charge of an excursion of
some kind, or possibly had worked through in
connection with the Manchester races, as it became
common for GE engines, either from Cambridge or
March, to come through at certain times with trains of
horseboxes from Newmarket. The same note also
mentions that during the summer of that same year Class
J66 279E was officiating as shunter at Gorton works.
Both of these appearances of course have a prophetic
quality about them, for as the new management got to
work the small GE tanks became widely distributed over
the whole system, turning up in the most unexpected
places including a variety of locations on the former GC
lines, while of course the B12s were to become closely

especially when climbing towards Woodhead with the
exhaust reverberating round the Longdendale valley.
They also had charge of the Grimsby-Manchester fish
train, which after joining the line at Barnsley Junction
went through in the early evening, always with a Gorton
engine at the head in the earlier years. Vans of meat from
the Liverpool docks were another regular B7 assignment,
these trains joining at Godleyjunction.

Spring and summer always brought an increase of
traffic because of the number of duplicates and other
extras working to and from the popular resorts, but in the
goods sphere also there was a smaller increase in traffic in
connection with the fruit season. On most afternoons for
example a train of vans made its way over Woodhead,
these being fruit empties which had worked overnight to
the Manchester markets. This train was of some interest
as it was normally worked an ex-GE 0-6-0 from March.
We are fortunate in having access to the diary of a Lincoln
driver, Phil Markham, who put in many shifts on the fruit
traffic in the period 1926-28, lodging at Gorton and
returning in the afternoon, by which time a train of empty
vans had been marshalled at Ducie Street and was waiting
to leave; made up of part-fitted vehicles, it would usually
have been seen climbing towards Woodhead some time
after 4pm. The earliest note in the diary appears on
Saturday 19 June 1926, when Driver Markham had
charge of J20 8275, having worked outward with the
same engine during the night. A few weeks later, on
Saturday 24 July, he renewed his acquaintance with the
Woodhead route, this time on the footplate of J20 8271;
as before, he had worked into the Manchester area with
the same engine during the night, so this was the evidently
the usual practice. Other examples of the working can be
found in the diary, as for instance on 10 September 1926
with J17 8178, Monday 23 May 1927 with J20 8278, and
J19 8261 on the following Wednesday, all these engines
working out and back within the same twenty-four hour
period. In the week commencing 20 June 1927 three
different GE 0-6-Os appeared in succession, each engine
going to Manchester and coming back next day; they
were J20 8286 on the first two days, then J18 8245, while
J17 8198 finished off the week. The last entry of this kind
was in the succeeding year, when J17 8226 worked to
Manchester on Friday 12 October 1928, returning the
next afternoon as usual.

These appearances of GE 0-6-0s have received little if
any mention elsewhere, and seem to be largely unknown,
the reason perhaps being the overnight working, which
meant that the engine usually arrived at Gorton shed
some time before 6am, followed by the very prompt
return later the same day, so that it did not linger for very
long at the shed. Nevertheless the homeward journey
during the afternoon, especially on Saturdays must at the
time have drawn attention, and it is surprising that so little
information has survived. Among the very few
observations which have come to light is one relating to
Saturday 7 July 1928, when J20 8289 was recorded by the
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locomotive; it was thus still in original colours when
transferred to Kings Cross not long afterwards (this can
seen in a well-known photograph showing it on the new
Kings Cross turntable, installed in December 1923), and
it would appear from the entry in 'Locomotive Matters'
that it retained the GCR Brunswick green until it came
back to Gorton for its repair late in 1924.

Anyone lucky enough to have been observing at the
Woodhead lineside during this fascinating period would
have witnessed some very remarkable developments as
the LNER began to put its locomotive plans into effect,
for it was in late 1924 and early 1925 that the first of the
latest batch of brand-new Pacifies were despatched from
Doncaster works to be run in at Gorton, presumably
running light. All of course were unnamed at this stage,
the first arrival apparently being No.2547, the eventual
Doncaster. The Railway Magazine mentions that Nos.
2553, 2555 and 2556 were at work on local trains in the
Manchester district, and it is known that one at least
made some appearances on the Marylebone expresses.
This was probably more in the nature of an extended
trial rather than any indication of a serious attempt to
operate the Pacifies regularly on these trains, although of
course those observing the spectacle were not to know
this at the time. In no case did the 4-6-2s stay long at
Gorton, being soon sent away to take up their work on
the East Coast line. It is doubful of course whether the
local men would have been sorry to see them go, for
even at this early stage their reputation was already
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associated with the Woodhead line with the introduction
of the reorganised North Country Continental working,
which was described not very long in LNER. In the first
part of this article it is mentioned that a special working of
an emigrants' train took place from Ipswich to Liverpool,
probably during April 1927, and it has up to now been
supposed that this was the first appearance of a GE 4-6-0
in the north-west, but it is now clear that this was not so.
It is of course possible that No.8507 was also conveying
emigrants.

An interesting note concerning one of the best-
known of the native GC engines appears in April 1925,
where it is said that 6165 Valour, which like the rest of the
Class had been working Pullman expresses on the GN
Section, was now back at work on home metals following
a repair at Gorton, during the course of which it was
repainted in the new LNER colours. According to the
published records, Valour was released from the works
on New Year's Day 1925 after a general repair, and the
note in the Railway Magazine states that it had been seen
working between Manchester and Retford; this was the
top-link 'rest turn', so it was probably being run in on this
lighter duty before being sent back to Kings Cross. The
details of its repainting are of much interest, because it
had received a major repair during 1923 but retained the
original GC colours, possibly for sentimental reasons, as
at that time the authorities at Gorton works probably
could not bear to see the splendid Robinson livery
disappear so abruptly from such a distinguished

Nearer to Lancashire, O4 6337 of Gorton passes Torside crossing with a train of bolster wagons. The crossing gates were opened by
means of a large wheel in the signalbox, and one of the gateposts can just be seen to the right of the telegraph pole. The footbridge
with its solid metal sides was unusual. This picture was taken by E.R. Morten in 1939, but the appearance of these trains altered very

little during the LNER years.



Woodhead line. 'Locomotive Matters' of May 1925 states
that B16s 91 I and 2374 had appeared on goods trains.
Of these, No.91 I is said to have been based at Gorton
for a time, and besides the goods trains had apparently
been working slow trains between Manchester and
Sheffield as well as locals in the Manchester district.
Other NE 4-6-0s are listed in the same month, these
being B13 761, B15s 788, 799, 817 and 822, and B16s
908, 911, 924, 925 and 2368. No obvious reason can be
given for this sudden invasion from the NE Area, unless
there had been some major rearrangement of the
workings, though it is unlikely that the crews in charge
were any other than GC men, as their colleagues in the
north-east rarely ventured far outside their own
territory and would of course be entirely unfamiliar with
the Woodhead line. All the engines mentioned were
allocated to York, a shed where there was little if any
lodging work, and few long-distance diagrams. As for
BI6 91 I, said to have been allocated to Gorton for a
time, confirmation of this can be found in the records
published in Yeadoris Register; the engine is shown as
having been sent there on 22 September 1924, and
departing on 6 March the following year. The allocation
of a B16 to Gorton, and its subsequent use on passenger
trains, has the ring of a typical manoeuvre on the part of
W.G.R Maclure, always prepared to give his favoured
Gorton drivers the opportunity to take the regulator of
whatever new locomotive type happened to come on
the scene, and of course the B16s were just about the
very last word in Darlington design, postdated only by Sir
Vincent Raven's Pacifies. But like so many of these
tentative try-outs nothing ever seems to have come of it
in the long term. How long the appearances of the NE
engines continued is unclear, but there is evidence to
suggest that they lasted for some time, because there is a
photograph taken by H. Gordon Tidey showing B15 820
leaving Woodhead tunnel on a mineral train, although the
lamp code is not the usual one. The date is presumed to
be 1927 as with all this photographer's pictures, and at
that fairly late stage it is of course possible that this
appearance was not connected in any way with the
events described above, as it was not unknown for NE
engines to turn up on mineral trains from time to time,
though an appearance of a 4-6-0 would be very unusual.
The original note in 'Locomotive Matters' includes
mention of three NE mineral engines observed in the
Manchester district, two of these being Nos.764 and
1215 of Class Q5; the other number, 763, has not been
traced. These were probably working coal trains
alongside the familiar GC types.

To add further to the ever-growing mixture of
locomotive types, the same issue of Railway Magazine
carries a note to the effect that J6 3522, with distinctive
double dome, had been seen in the Manchester area.
GN engines were no strangers to Manchester as they
worked regular goods trains to the terminal at
Deansgate from the Nottingham area, one of these

known, and opinions would have been particularly strong
among men who had long had a fierce dislike for GN
products. But in any event there was clearly no demand
for an engine as large as a Pacific at this time.

One especially interesting item in 'Locomotive
Matters' is that at some date in early 1925 a trial was
carried out on the fish trains, with three different engine
types participating, including a Pacific. Unfortunately the
information is extremely sketchy, there being no details of
either the date or the actual engines taking part, much less
the purpose of the trial or how it was carried out. The
episode does not appear to have been mentioned in any
other source, and is now virtually forgotten. Besides the
4-6-2 the engines tested were a B7 4-6-0 and an ex-NER
BI6. The four-cylinder B7 was of course the type in
normal use at this time, these powerful machines having
now taken over all the principal goods workings on the
GC Section, and as the fish trains were worked entirely
from the Manchester end it is to be presumed that Gorton
crews were in charge of all the test runs. How many trips
took place we are not told, but it appears from the entry
in 'Locomotive Matters' that the tests were based on coal
consumption, and apparently the best figure was achieved
by the NERengine, which is interesting given that Gorton
men were presumably in charge. To attain a better fuel
consumption figure than a Pacific was no great
achievement at this stage, because the 4-6-2s with their
wide fireboxes were already notorious in this respect, and
the tendency would in all probability have been still more
pronounced with an unfamiliar crew on the footplate. But
for an ex-NE engine to emerge with a better figure than a
B7 is something of a surprise. The 'four-cylinders', as they
were called by the men, were always known to be heavy
coal burners of course, and the possibility is that at this
period they had not yet been fitted with the improved
piston-rings which are known to have brought about an
improvement in the consumption of the Lord Faringdons,
though there are no records and this is entirely
supposition.

Regardless of the test results however, there was no
observable change in the working of the fish trains, which
as far as we know remained in the hands of the B7s,
perhaps simply because the drivers were happiest
working with the engines they knew best. Few ex-GCR
men, least of all those based at Gorton, would have been
prepared to exchange a Robinson engine for a machine of
non-GC origin unless there was a really marked
difference in performance. And of course it was always
the driver who had the say - if the fireman had to work a
little harder because the favoured engine burned a little
more fuel than a more thermally efficient machine, that
was all part of the rigorous upbringing which an aspiring
GC footplateman had to undergo. At any rate the B7s
continued to work the fish traffic for years to come.

The fuel tests may have triggered one interesting
result however, for it was at about this same time that
NER 4-6-0s began to make their appearance on the
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leaving the shops, though normally travelling only as far
as Hadfield where the engine was stopped in the loop to
be examined by the Trial Trip driver. In the early LNER
years these repairs covered only Gorton-built types, but
as time went on others began to appear, mainly LNER
engines following management decisions as to the
allocation of repair work over the system as a whole.
Engines coming in for repair were usually in a fairly dirty
and generally woebegone condition, as would be
expected, often showing signs of rust after standing out
in the open at the sheds. To give an example of the wide
variety of these engine movements, a visit to Gorton
works on Saturday 24 February 1923 found a total of 60
locomotives under repair or awaiting same, made up of
44 tender engines and 16 tanks. The former comprised
nine 4-6-0s, three Atlantics, twelve 4-4-0s, ten 0-6-Os,
ten 2-8-0s, and single-driver No.968, the last-named
waiting in the yard for what is believed to have been its
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stated that the picture was taken on Tuesday 23 June
1925 and shows the engine on its way to Doncaster. This

is entirely wrong. The picture was taken the preceding
Sunday and shows the Garratt during its first trial run
from Beyer Peacock's works, on which it is understood to
have gone as far as Woodhead and back. It returned to
the works later that day to have certain alterations made,
which included changing the position of the number from
the tank side to the framing below the boiler, and it was
after these adjustments had been made that it was sent to
Doncaster; hence it was never seen at the latter in the
condition shown in this picture. It actually travelled to
Doncaster on Friday 26 June, and the event was reported
in the Manchester press. It did not of course sever all
contact with the Woodhead route, for although its active
life was limited to banking mineral trains up to the top of
the Worsborough bank, just before the trains joined the
Woodhead line at Barnsley Junction, it is known to have

Another view at Torside with an unidentified 'Proper Tiny' approaching the crossing; the Down loop is visible at right. The cottages at
left are still in existence at the time of writing. Photograph by E.R. Morten.

ventured as far as Dunford Bridge from time to time,
perhaps continuing up the grade on occasions when the
normal banking engine was not available.

Use of the line as a testing-ground for the Garratt is a
reminder that there was much locomotive activity on the
Woodhead route which was connected in one way or
another with events at Gorton works. Engines were
constantly being brought in for repair, running light or
often being towed - it frequently happened that two
engines would be seen being towed by a third, and such a
procession of three locomotives represented the
permitted weight limit over Dinting and Broadbottom
Arches. Newly repaired and newly built engines also
made much use of the line on their first outing after

services being routed via Chinley and the LMS. Because
of this we cannot be certain whether No.3522 made use
of the Woodhead line, but engines of the Class would
certainly have appeared as they were used regularly on
these services until well into LNER days.

During 1925 one especially interesting ingredient of
this locomotive mixture appeared in the form of the
brand-new No.2395, better known as the Garratt. The
story of this engine has been told in as much detail as is
available in an earlier issue of LNER, and the article
includes the picture of No.2395 passingTorside while on
test which has been published several times. It appears
for example in Volume Nine of Yeadon's Register (p.7), but
it should be noted that the caption is incorrect, as it is



considerable numbers and took up regular work on both
goods and passengertrains.

An entry of August 1926 introduces the subject of
seaside excursions. Closely rivalling Blackpool as a
popular resort, Scarborough received a great deal of
such traffic during the summer months, and on Whit
Sunday of that year (23 May) these trains were noted
being worked by B7s 5458 and 5476, both stationed at
Gorton. Whitsuntide was always a popular holiday
period in the Manchester area on account of its
traditional links with the cotton trade, and no doubt
these excursions to Scarborough were well patronised.
The choice of engines reflects the fact that the B7s were
now well-established as the favourite engines for the
heavier excursion trains, on which they were to put in
season after season of regular work over the years; a
similar note appears in July 1927, when on an unspecified
date B7 5484 worked a Scarborough excursion. Other
excursion trains might appear with almost any type of
engine at the head, above all at busy times, and the
subject is too extensive to be covered in this article. One
rare appearance which deserves a brief mention
however is that of NE Atlantic No.701, Class C6, which
passed through on an excursion from Newcastle and
York, the destination not given. The original two-
cylinder Atlantics were seldom seen on the Woodhead
line, and the fact that No.701 was allocated to Gateshead
adds a further interest to the occasion. Not all
excursions of course were bound for the coast, as
numerous such trains were worked in connection with
football matches, races and similar sporting events, these
forming a separate topic in themselves. 'Locomotive
Matters' of November 1926 mentions a particularly
interesting appearance, when two special trains worked
by GN Atlantic 3280 and an unknown NE engine
traversed the Woodhead line on their way to the
Southport Flower Show; the number of the latter is
given as 901, but as this was a Class Q7 mineral engine
this was probably a misprint. The two trains are said to
have originated at Sheffield and Nottingham.

From the various details given here we are able to
reconstruct a surprisingly cosmopolitan picture, with all
the major pre-Grouping companies represented on the
Woodhead route apart from the NBR. The variety was
to increase still further as the LNER years wore on,
especially of course with the more frequent appearances
of LNER standard types. For the present however we
leave this very variegated scene with a still more unusual
detail, this being the regular appearance of LMS
passenger engines between Sheffield and Penistone.
Locomotives of the rival company regularly worked the
Bradford expresses between these two points, giving
way to and taking over from LNER engines at Sheffield
Victoria. Noted in 'Locomotive Matters' of October
1926 is ex-LY 'Dreadnought 4-6-0 No. 10442, observed
at Sheffield Victoria, where the engines waited between
turns. LMS tanks also came regularly into Penistone on

final repair before being withdrawn and sent for scrap.
The tanks were made up of two A5s, three 4-4-2s, two
FI s, eight 0-6-2s and a Crab. Apart from very old engines
waiting to be scrapped all of these would be seen on some
kind of running-in turn following repair, which in the case
of the larger types might involve one or two trips over
Woodhead. At this early date they would of course still be
carrying GC livery on arrival, and may well have been
released without repainting as the details of the new
LNER colour scheme had not then been finalised; as we
have seen above, this happened to Valour, though as
suggested there may have been other reasons why the
new colours were not applied. Newly repaired engines
could always be distinguished by their spick-and-span
condition, though in an era when most engines were
meticulously cleaned between turns this may not have
been quite as apparent as it became in later years.

The 'Locomotive Matters' feature of August 1925
takes us back to the subject of Great Eastern engines, with
two of the well-known Clauds being noted at Manchester
Victoria; the engines were Nos.8824 and 8830, both from
March shed. As mentioned earlier in connection with the
visit of a BI2, GE engines would occasionally appear on
the Woodhead line with trains of horseboxes from
Newmarket in connection with race meetings at
Manchester or Haydock Park. The appearance of the two
Clauds at Manchester Victoria is a fairly clear indication
that they would have reached the LMS lines by leaving the
GC route at Ashburys and travelling via the LMS to Miles
Platting, at the top of the descent into Victoria; this route
was much used in the summer by excursion trains bound
for the Lancashire coast, above all of course Blackpool,
now well-established as the country's leading seaside
resort. So it is possible that the Clauds were working an
excursion of this kind, although the usual practice on such
trains was for an LMS engine to take over a short distance
beyond the junction at Ashburys. A much later entry, in
January 1928, gives details of Claud No.8810 passing
through Manchester Victoria with Newmarket-
Pendleton horseboxes, this no doubt being in connection
with the famous Manchester November Handicap of

1927; the engine as usual hailed from March.
In the feature of the following October comes the first

mention of Class K3, Nos. 202 and 203 stated to be
working from Gorton, the latter having not long before
appeared as Exhibit 7 in the Railway Centenary
celebrations at Darlington. There is no indication of the
work they were doing, but an entry of the following
February announces that the number of K3s allocated to
Gorton had now increased to eight, including Nos.208,
229 and 231. All of them appear to have been in brand-
new condition on arrival, the intention no doubt being
that they should be run in at Gorton, although they were
also noted on the fitted goods jobs to Marylebone and
Lincoln. They did not stay long in Manchester, but these
early moves proved to have a prophetic quality as some
years later Class K3 engines came to the GC section in
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Class J20 8289 is photographed here on 27 May 1937 at Kings Lynn Loco. As described in the accompanying article, this was the
engine noted at Penistone with Driver Markham when working fruit empties from Manchester. Photograph by H.C. Casserley.
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probability another of Maclure's locomotive schemes,
giving the Gorton men an opportunity of sizing up the
new LNER types. The experiment did not last long,
and it appears that the new machine was on its way
elsewhere before the end of the year. Unlike other
visitations by new LNER types, this one produced no
observable result, as Class D49 never returned to the
Woodhead line, though they regularly appeared at
Sheffield Victoria once the Class had gone into series
production.

Yet more exciting developments were soon to come,
but it is convenient at this point to leave the subject for
the time being. It is hoped that a similar survey of events
up to the start of World War Two will follow shortly.

slow trains from Bradford and Huddersfield, and in this
connection readers will no doubt recall the accident of
1927when an Aspinall 2-4-2 was involved in a collision
having been wrongly signalled onto the GC main line
instead of crossing over.

We move onto 'Locomotive Matters' of February
1928for a last valedictory note. This reads simply '234

Yorkshire visited Manchester Central recently on trains
from Sheffield Victoria.' This, the first of the D49 'Shire' 4-
4-0s, is known to have been sent almost new to Gorton in
November 1927, and such information as has come to
light suggests that it was put to work in the No.2 Link,
which as  explained earlier entailed much working
between Manchester and Sheffield. It was  in all

At Beely Woods on the Sheffield side of the hill, CI 4428 of Neepsend is pictured on the downgrade with a typical Liverpool-Hull
express. This is a later view showing the train made up of Gresley stock.
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